IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 64,012

RAYMOND ROBERT CLARK,

Appellant,

-v-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY CRIMINAL DIVISION

FT DEC 7 1983 CLERK SUPREME COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL R. LEWIS 1899 South Bayshore Drive Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 854-0050

RICHARD HERSCH 5901 S.W. 74th Street Suite 300 Miami, Florida 33143 (305) 667-1009

PATRICE TALISMAN 169 East Flagler Street Suite 1414 Miami, Florida 33141

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

The appellant, RAYMOND ROBERT CLARK, was the defendant in the trial court and was prosecuted by the appellee, the State of Florida. These parties will be referred to as the appellant and the appellee respectively. The record of the trial will be designated by the symbol "O.R." and the record of the proceedings on appellant's 3.850 motion by the symbol "R". All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant and co-defendant, Ty Johnston, were charged with the kidnapping and murder of David G. Drake on April 27, 1977. At trial, Johnston's testimony formed the basis of the appellee's case. Johnston had previously entered into plea negotiations with the appellee allowing him to plead guilty to second degree murder in order to avoid the possibility of a death sentence and twenty-five year minimum mandatory sentence. (O.R. 1366) In exchange for his plea, Johnston agreed to testify on behalf of the appellee and against Raymond Clark. (O.R. 1367)

Johnston's testimony related that he and Clark sought to obtain funds for their return to California on April 27, 1977. (O.R. 1367-69) They drove into several bank parking lots in search of a potential victim, eventually abducting a bank patron. (O.R. 1373) Johnston testified that he drove Clark's Blazer while Clark directed the victim to drive to several secluded areas. (O.R. 1375-6) It was at one of these areas that the victim's body was eventually found.

While evidence was presented that Raymond Clark made efforts to cash a check drawn on the victim's bank account and that Clark attempted to extort money from the victim's family, the only evidence bearing directly on the events immediately preceding the victim's death came from Ty Johnston. Raymond Clark presented no defense at trial, nor was any evidence offered in the sentencing phase of the proceedings.

Although Johnston's testimony was that Raymond Clark fired the fatal shots, Mr. Clark, at sentencing, stated to the court that, in fact, it was Johnson who killed the victim. The killing was not planned, intended or contemplated by Raymond Robert Clark, nor did he expect Johnston to use lethal force.

commenced 20, 1977, after Trial on September jury selection. On September 25, 1977, appellant Raymond Robert Clark was convicted in the Circuit Court on one count of murder in the first degree, kidnapping and extortion in violation of §782.04(1), §787.01, and §836.05, Florida Statutes respectively. Following the jury's verdict, on the 26th day of September, 1977, the court conducted a separate sentencing proceeding before the trial jury as required by §921.141, Florida Statutes, Appointed counsel's trial partner, Martin Murry, presented an allocution to the court in support of mitigation, however, no witnesses were called during this phase of the proceedings. The jury recommended that appellant Raymond Robert Clark be sentenced to death. Following the jury's recommendation, the court sentenced appellant Raymond Robert Clark to death on the first degree murder count. (O.R. 1477) Mr. Clark was sentenced

to life on the kidnapping count and 15 years on the extortion count. The extortion and kidnapping sentences were to run consecutively. (O.R. 1478-9)

A motion for new trial was timely filed and the same was denied by the trial judge on October 24, 1977. Appeal was taken to the Supreme Court of Florida, pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i). The judgment and sentence were affirmed by the Supreme Court of Florida on November 21, 1979. (379 So.2d 97). A petition for rehearing was denied February 18, 1980.

Pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Cr.P., motion was filed with the trial judge to vacate the sentence imposed. Hearing on the motion was held on March 23, 1983. This motion was denied by order dated July 8, 1983. This appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida, pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i) was filed on July 13, 1983.

Other than the instant motion and the direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida, <u>supra</u>, and a Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed on behalf of a class of inmates including appellant Raymond Robert Clark, <u>Brown v. Wainwright</u>, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1981), no other post conviction motions have been filed.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed and the instant proceedings ensued.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO ALLOW APPELLANT A CONFIDENTIAL PSYCHIATRIC EXPERT VIOLATED CLARK'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE COUNSEL AND EQUAL PROTECTION.

lower court's denial of Defendant's The request for appointment of a psychiatrist to aid counsel in the preparation of the defense violated his Sixth Amendment rights to effective assistance of counsel. The facts giving rise to this issue are During pretrial proceedings, defense as follows: counsel requested the appointment of an independent psychiatrist to aid her in the preparation of an insanity defense. (R.75). This request was based on the finding of Dr. O.E. Heninger, a noted California psychiatrist, that at the time of a prior incident, the Defendant was insane and unable to determine right from wrong. (R.76). The lower court denied this request on the ground that the report of such a psychiatrist must be given to the prosecution as per Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.210. (R. Defense counsel elected to forego the evaluation under 76). these conditions.(O.R.3222-3229 and R.77). This violated the Defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel, as will be shown below. Additionally, trial counsel's failure to request psychiatric evaluations to aid her in the sentencing phase inured to the actual and substantial detriment of the Defendant.

At the hearing on the 3.850 Motion, Susan Schaeffer, original defense counsel, testified consistently with the above statement of facts. (R.75-77). She also testified that in her

opinion as an attorney, Raymond Clark was competent. (R.91-103). The lower court relied in part on this unsubstantiated opinion in holding that its denial of counsel Schaeffer's motion for appointment of an "independent confidential psychiatric expert" did not deprive Clark of effective assistance of counsel. The lower court further found that this prior ruling was not a denial of effective assistance because "defense counsel is not charged with anticipating changes in the law." (R.51).

There can be no doubt that an effective defense sometimes requires the assistance of an expert witness. The commentary to the American Bar Association Standards on providing defense services notes that:

[t]he quality of representation at trial may be excellent and yet valueless to the defendant if his defense requires...the services of a[n]...expert and no such services are available. ABA Standards, Providing Defense Service, 22-23 (App. Draft 1968). Similarly, а distinguished committee of lawyers, state and federal judges, and acamedicians reported to the Attorney General that adequate representation of criminal defendants requires in some cases provision for engaging experts in addition to appointment of counsel.

Report of the Attorney General's Committee on Poverty and the Administration of Federal Criminal Justice, 45-46 (1963); <u>Williams v. Martin</u>, 618 F.2d 1021, 1025 (4th Cir. 1980). Further, it has been recognized that the obligation of the government to provide an indigent defendant with the assistance of an expert is firmly based on the Equal Protection Clause of the Constitution. <u>Jacobs v. United States</u>, 350 F.2d 571 (4th Cir. 1965) relying on <u>Griffin v. Illinois</u>, 351 U.S. 12, 76 S.Ct. 585 100 L.Ed. 891 (1956). This obligation arises because the assignment of a lawyer to an indigent must not be made "under

such circumstances as to preclude the giving of effective aid in the preparation and trial of the case." <u>Powell v. Alabama</u>, 287 U.S. 45, 71, 53 S.Ct. 55, 65, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932).

In the cause at bar, it is clear that defense counsel could not adequately prepare, much less present, a viable insanity defense without the aid of an expert psychiatric witness and that if the defendant Clark, could afford such an expert, he would have hired one. While defense attorneys and officers of the court familiar with the criminal justice system often feel they are capable of identifying psychological and psychiatric problems, a defendant is entitled to have all possible defenses examined. Washington v. Strickland, 693 F.2d 1243 (11th Cir. 1982). This is especially true where a prior psychiatric evaluation found that Clark was insane and unable to determine Because Clark's defense could not be fully right from wrong. developed without professional assistance that would have been available to a person who could afford his own defense, Clark has established he was denied equal protection of the law. Further, the refusal of the court to provide and expert, deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel and due process of law in violation the the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. See, Williams, supra (where the Fourth Circuit held that a defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel when the Trial Court refused to appoint a forensic pathologist to aid the preparation of his defense).

The lower court's statement that it would provide such an expert if his reports would be made available to the prosecution

did not comply with the dictates of either the Sixth or Fourteenth Amendments. It is the majority position that where an accused or his counsel hires a psychiatrist for the sole purpose of aiding the accuses and his counsel in the preparation of his defense, any information obtained by the psychiatrist is protected by the attorney-client privilege. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Alvarez</u>, 519 F.2d 1036 (3d Cir. 1975); <u>United States v. Smith</u>, 425 F.Supp. 1038 (E.D.N.Y. 1976); <u>State v. Toste</u>, 424 A.2d 293 (Conn. 1979); <u>People v. Lines</u>, 531 P.2d 793 (Cal. 1975); <u>People <u>v. Hilliker</u>, 185 N.W.2d 831 (Mich.App. 1971); <u>State v. Kociolek</u>, 129 A.2d 417 (N.J. 1957); <u>City and County of San Francisco v.</u> Superior Court, 231 P.2d 26 (Cal. 1951).</u>

The Florida courts have also adopted this position. <u>Pouncy</u> <u>v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). The Third District excerpted the following language from <u>Alvarez</u>, <u>supra</u>, as the basis for its holding:

[T]he effective assistance of counsel with respect to the preparation of an insanity defense demands recognition that a defendant be as free to communicate with a psychiatric expert as with the attorney he is assisting. If the expert is later used as a witness on behalf of the defendant, obviously the cloak of the privilege ends. But when, as here, the defendant does not call the expert the same privilege applies with respect to communications from the defendant as applies to such communications to the attorney himself.

* * * *

The issue here is whether a defense counsel on a case involving a potential of insanity must run the risk that a psychiatric expert whom he hires to advise him with respect to the defendant's mental condition may be forced to be an involuntary government witness. The effect of such a rule would, we think, have the inevitable effect of depriving defendants of the effective assistance of counsel in such cases. A psychiatrist will of necessity make inquiry about the facts surrounding the alleged crime, just as the

attorney will. Disclosures made to the attorney cannot be used to furnish proof in the government's case. Disclosures made to the attorney's expert should be equally unavailable, at least until he is placed on the witness stand. The attorney must be free to make an informed judgment with respect to the best course of the defense without the inhibition of creating a potential government witness.

353 So.2d at 691 quoting Alvarez, 519 F.2d at 1046-1047.

<u>Alvarez</u> specifically tied together the attorney/client privilege and the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel. <u>See also</u>, <u>Toste</u>, <u>supra</u> (Sixth Amendment violated where prosecution calls as witness psychiatric expert appointed by court for indigent defendant for sole purpose of aiding in the preparation of the defense: "The fact that the psychiatric expert was appointed by the court rather than employed by the defense is irrelevant: the law affords no lesser protection for a defendant who is indigent than for one with means to retain his own psychiatrist to prepare a defense.")

Thus, the conditioning of the appointment of a psychiatric expert on defendant's waiving his attorney-client privilege, deprived the defendant of his right to equal protection and effective assistance of counsel. Florida recognized this by adopting Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.216 in 1980. The pertinent provision of this rule reads as follows:

(a) When in any criminal case counsel for a defendant adjudged to be indigent or partially indigent, whether public defender or court appointed, shall have reason to believe that the defendant may be incompetent to stand trial or that he may have been insane at the time of the offense, he may so inform the court who shall appoint one expert to examine the defendant in order to assist his attorney in the preparation of his defense. Such expert shall report only to the attorney for the defendant and matters related to the expert shall be deemed to fall under the lawyer-client privilege.

This rule, being a constitutional rule of criminal procedure, should be given retroactive effect.

In Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 931 (Fla.1982) this Court set forth the standard for retroactive application of law changes on post conviction relief:

To summarize, we today hold that an alleged change of law will not be considered in a capital case under Rule 3.850 <u>unless</u> the change: (a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance.

This Court then went on to state that most of the law changes of "fundamental significance" will fall within two broad categories:

The first are those changes of law which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties. This category is exemplified by Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 53 L.Ed.2d 982 (1977), which held that the imposition of the death penalty for the crime of rape of an adult woman is forbidden by the eighth amendment as cruel and unusual punishment. The second are those changes of law to necessitate which are of sufficient magnitude retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of <u>Stovall</u> and <u>Linkletter</u>. <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, of course, is the prime example of a law change included within this category.

Id. at 929.

This rule in question (entitlement to an expert for preparation of the defense) was adopted by this Court, therefore the first qualification -- that the change in law emanate from this Court -- has not been met. <u>The Florida Bar, In Re Rules of</u> <u>Criminal Procedure</u>, 389 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1980). Second, this rule is based on a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, and Fourteenth Amendment right to equal protection. Therefore it is constitutional in nature

and meets the second requirement. The third requirement is that the change constitute a development of fundamental significance. The criteria to be used in determining whether this requirement is met are: d) "The purpose to be served by the new standard b) the extent of the reliance by law enforcement authorities on the old standards, and c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the old standards." <u>Stovall v. Denno</u>, 388 U.S. 293, 297, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199, 1205 (1967).

The purpose of this rule and of the Sixth Amendment requirement of effective assistance at trial is to insure the truth finding function of the criminal trial and quell all questions about the accuracy of guilty verdicts. The denial of a defendant's right to use of an expert in the preparation of his case goes to the heart of this function of a trial for it is often only through the use of such experts that in this complex world can we arrive at the truth.

Second, there does not seem to have a great deal of reliance on this rule in the past, since there are few Florida cases on this point. In fact, <u>Pouncy v. State</u>, supra, is the only Florida case to deal with this issue and it foreshadowed this Court's adoption of the rule. Third, the effect of holding this rule retroactive would not be great. Trial counsel would have had to request that a confidential expert be appointed. Therefore, there would not be a flood of litigants raising this point on post-conviction relief motions. Thus, as in <u>Hankerson</u> <u>v. North Carolina</u>, <u>infra</u>, the purpose of this rule should be

given overriding weight and that purpose requires that this rule be given retroactive effect. Consequently, Raymond Robert Clark was denied effective assistance of counsel through the lower court's denial of his motion to appoint a confidential psychiatric expert.¹

As the United States Supreme Court said in <u>Hankerson v.</u> <u>North Carolina</u>, 432 U.S. 233, 241, 97 S.Ct. 2339, 53 L.Ed.2d 306, 314 (1977):

Where the major purpose of new constitutional doctrine is overcome an aspect of the criminal trial that to substantially impairs its truth-finding function and so raises serious questions about the accuracy of guilty verdicts in past trials, the new rule has been given Neither good-faith reliance complete retroactive effect. by state or federal authorities on prior constitutional law impact the accepted practice, nor severe on or administration justice sufficed require of has to prospective application in these circumstances. Williams v. United States, 401 U.S. 646, 653, 28 L.Ed.2d 388, 91 S.Ct. 1148 (1971); See <u>Adams v. Illinois</u>, 405 U.S. 278, 280, 31 L.Ed.2d 101, 92 S.Ct. 916 (1972); <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>Russell</u>, 392 U.S. 293, 295, 20 L.Ed.2d 1100, 88 S.Ct. 1921 (1968).

Therefore, it is apparent that Rule 3.216(a) which sets out one of the requirements of effective assistance of counsel as dictated by the Sixth Amendment, must be given retroactive effect.

¹ The error was clearly that of the lower court, not of trial counsel, in failing to anticipate a change in the law as held by the lower court.

ARGUMENT

II.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE WITH RESPECT TO PROPORTIONALITY REVIEW OF FLORIDA SENTENCING SCHEME

Although the lower court rejected the issues raised in appellant's motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the effects of that denial deal directly with the proportionality of the death sentence imposed and the factors which govern the imposition of the death penalty. In this respect, the issues raised concerning the right to prepare a meaningful defense, based on psychiatric evaluation as set forth in Pouncy v. Florida, supra, and subsequently adopted in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 3.216, adopted July 18, 1980, effective July 1, 1980 (389 So.2d 610), speak directly to a violation of due process and equal protection rights. Appellant was denied the proportionality review under Profitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976), as well as due process and equal protection required prior to "execution" of the sentence.

The right to this legal proportionality review was required and was absent on direct review to this Court. If the psychiatric evaluation was denied as a result of the trial court's ruling, that erroneous ruling creates reversible error. Had the inquiry into the psychological-psychiatric profile of Raymond Clark been waived by defense counsel, then, counsel was ineffective. As a direct result, however, of one or the other

of these errors, this Court was not presented with this issue resulting in the denial of Raymond Clark to his right to the legal proportionality review.

In failing to address the proportionality disparity as a result of these factors, appellant's death sentence runs afoul of Florida Case Law as well as the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

In the case of <u>Gregg v. Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976), the Supreme Court stated that:

. . . to guard further against a situation comparable to that presently in Furman, the Supreme Court of Georgia compares each death sentence with the sentences imposed on similarly situated defendants to insure that the sentence of death in a particular case is not disproportionate.

(p. 198)

Differing from <u>Gregg v. Georgia</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court in <u>Profitt</u> made a specific determination that the Florida Supreme Court:

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