IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND ROBERT CLARK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 64,0 FILED SID J. WELLE

MAR 5 1984

CLERK, SUPREAME WART

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MICHAEL J. KOTLER
Assistant Attorney General
Park Trammell Building
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

Counsel for Appellee

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

". . . the trial court did not err in denying Clark's request for appointment of a psychologist. Although refusing to move for a sanity inquisition and to comply with the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal

Procedure 3.210, Clark requested that the court appoint a particular psychologist to examine Clark and to test him to determine whether a possible defense of not guilty by reason of insanity exists and to make his report confidential and solely to Clark's counsel for his determination of whether or not to make sanity an issue at trial. By his motion, Clark was attempting to circumvent Florida Rule of Crimial Procedure 3.210.

In addition to reviewing the record in light of these alleged errors asserted by Clark, which we have determined to be without merit, we also have reviewed the evidence pursuant to Florida Appellate Rule 6.16 to determine whether the interests of justice require a new trial and conclude that no new trial is required. Accordingly, the conviction is affirmed."

This Court's opinion is clear. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's request for the appointment of a confidential psychiatrist. The State would now assert that Appellant cannot relitigate this issue by somehow relating it to ineffective assistance of counsel.

Insofar as the question of the psychiatric expert relates to the sentencing phase, defense cousel's failure to separately request an evaluation for the sentencing phase can quite simply be addressed as a tactical decision to forego evaluation when such evaluation would have been discoverable to the prosecution. While the law has changed due to this Court's adoption of Rule 3.216, Fla. R. Crim. P. (1980), defense counsel is not charged with anticipating such changes in the law. See Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980); Parker v. North Carolina, 397 U.S. 790, 90 S.Ct. 1458, 25 L.Ed.2d 785 (1970); Davis v. Wainwight, 547 F.2d 261 (5th Cir. 1977); Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980).

Appellant relies heavily on <u>Pouncy v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) despite the fact that <u>Pouncy</u> was not decided until December 27, 1977. The trial in this cause took place in September, 1977, therefore, the decision in <u>Pouncy</u> should have no bearing on this case. Contrary to Appellant's assertion on Page 9 of his brief, there is no such thing as a "constitutional rule of criminal procedure", as used in this context. To the contrary, rules are procedural not substantive. <u>State v. Garcia</u> 229 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1969). Therefore, there can be no suggestion that this rule should somehow be retroactively applied to the Appellant in this case. In <u>Witt v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court noted that law changes that are unconstitutional, evolutionary developments in the law, arising from a case application, may not be raised in a collateral proceeding:

[7] We emphasize at this point that only major constitutinal changes of law will be cognizable in capital cases under Rule 3.850. Although specific determinations regarding the significance of various legal developments must be made on a case by case basis, history shows that most major constitutinal changes are likely to fall within two broad categories. The first are those changes of law which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties. This category is exemplified by Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 53 L.Ed.2d 982 (1977) which held that the imposition of the death penalty for the crime of rape of an adult woman is forbidden by the eighth amendment as cruel and unusual punishment. The second are those changes of law which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter. Gideon v.

Wainwright, of course, is the prime example of a law change included within this category.

[8] In contrast to these jurisprudential upheavals are evolutionary refinements in the criminal law, affording new or different standards for the admissibility of evidence, for procedural fairness, for proportionality review of capital cases, and for other like matters. Emergent rights in these categories, or the retraction of former rights of this genre, do not compel an abridgement of the finality of judgments. To allow them that impact would, we are convinced, destroy the stability of the law, render punishments uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and burden the judicial machinery of our state, fiscally and intellectualy beyond any tolerable limit. (footnotes omitted)

Clearly, this is a situation of emergent rights.

In any event, the testimony adduced at the evidentiary hearing on Appellant's motion, established that trial counsel was experienced in the trial of capital cases and likewise experienced in the representation of defendants with alleged mental infirmities. (TR93) Further, the testimony of trial counsel was that Appellant gave no objective signs or indications of mental infirmities. (TR77-78; 90-91; 92-93; 104) This conclusion was reached only after spending three days in California, taking depositions of several of Appellant's friends; interviewing all potential defense witnesses; taking extensive depositions of all state witnesses; speaking with Appellant's prior defense counsel and doctor; and reviewing the California appellate decison in Appellant's first murder. (TR 101, 174) She could not find anything helpful that would have supported an insanity defense. (TR90-92,101)

It is absolutely clear that the request for the appointment of a confidential expert in derogation of the Rules of Criminal Procedure, as they then existed, was merely an attempt at an exploratory expedition in the hopes of finding something that would be beneficial to the defense. Judge Shaeffer's efforts disclosed nothing. Additionally, the testimony was that there were no objective signs or indications that any of the statutory mitigating factors relating to mental condition would have been disclosed by a psychiatric or psychological examination.

Appellant's argument is totally without merit.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE WITH RESPECT TO PROPORTIONALITY REVIEW OF FLORIDA'S SENTENCING SCHEME. 1/

Appellant alleges that legal proportionality review was required and was absent on direct review by this Court. Appellee would submit, however, that this is an issue which is not properly raised by way of a Rule 3.850 Motion. The trial court was not in any position to review the actions or inactions of this Court. If Appellant was concerned that this Court would deny his proportionality review, he should have raised this issue on his direct appeal. Appellant could have attacked the sentencing scheme under Section 921.14, Fla. Stat. Appellant also could have attempted to demonstrate that the death penalty was unwarranted by comparing the facts of his case to those of other death row inmates. Appellant did not pursue either course of Since this issue could and should have been raised on direct appeal from his conviction, and Appellant failed to do so, Appellee would submit that the doctrine of bypass and waiver are also applicable to this issue. Armstrong v. State, supra. (See also Issue I).

In any event, a review of the following case law reveals that Appellant is not constitutionally entitled to "proportionality review". In Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct.

^{1/} Proportionality review is not a constitutional requirement. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 165 (1976); Jurek v. Texas, 428 U.S. 262 (1976).

2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976), the defendant attacked this Court's appellate review process in death sentence cases, arguing that it was subjective and unpredictable. The United States Supreme Court rejected Proffitt's argument as follows:

"Finally, the Florida statute has a provision designed to assure that the death penalty will not be imposed on a capriciously selected group of convicted defendants. The Supreme Court of Florida reviews each death sentence to ensure that similar results are reached in similar cases.

Nonetheless, the petitioner attacks the Florida appellate review process because the role of the Supreme Court of Florida in reviewing death sentences is necessarily subjective and unpredictable. While it may be true that that court has not chosen to formulate a rigid objective test as its standard of review for all cases, it does not follow that the appellate review process is ineffective or arbitrary. In fact, it is apparent that the Florida court has undertaken responsibly to perform its function of death sentence review with a maximum of rationality and consistency.

For example, it has several times compared the circumstances of a case under review with those of previous cases in which it has assessed the imposition of death sentences. See, e.g. Alford v. State, 307 So.2d at 445; Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d at 540-541. By following this procedure, the Florida court has, in effect, adopted the type of proportionality review mandated by the Georgia statute. Cf. Gregg v. Georgia, at 204-206, 49 L.Ed.2d 859, 96 S.Ct. 2909. And any suggestion that the Florida court engages in only cursory or rubber-stamp review of death penalty cases is totally controverted by the fact that it has vacated over onethird of the death sentences that have come before it. See supra, at 253, 49 L.Ed. 923.

(1b) Florida, like Georgia has responded to Furman by enacting legislation that passes constitutional muster. That legislation

provides that after a person is convicted of first-degree murder, there shall be an informed, focused, guided, and objective inquiry into the question whether he should be sentenced to death. If a death sentence is imposed, the sentencing authority articulates in writing the statutory reasons that led to the decision. Those reasons, and the evidence supporting them, are conscientiously reviewed by a court which, because of its statewide jurisdiction, can assure consistency, fairness and rationality in the evenhanded operation of the state law. As in Georgia, this system serves to assure that sentences of death will not be "wantonly" or "freakishly" imposed. See Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. at 310, 33 L.Ed.2d 346, 92 S. Ct. 2726 (Stewart, J. concurring). Accordingly, the judgment before us is affirmed.

In another case from Florida, <u>Sullivan v. Wainwright</u>, ___ U. S. ___, 78 L.Ed.2d 210, 104 S.Ct. ____(1983), the United States Supreme Court again rejected the notion that this Court denied defendants proportionality review:

". . . Applicant's claim that he was entitled to proportionality review was addressed and found meritless by the Florida Supreme Court. . His case was one of the ear-Id. at liest to be decided under Florida's current death penalty statute. The state supreme court has used it as a reference point, comparing all subsequent capital cases to applicant's case to ensure proportionalty. It therefore cannot be alleged that the State has failed to compare this sentence with others decided under this statute to ensure proportionality. Whatever our decision in Pulley v. Harris, No. 82-1095, US ___, L.Ed.2d 787, 103 S.Ct. 1425 (cert. granted March 21, 1983), may be, it will not disturb the Florida Supreme Court's ruling.

Finally, in <u>Pulley v. Harris</u>, ___ U.S. ___ (34 Cr. L. 3027, Case No. 82-1095, opinion decided January 23, 1984), the United

States Supreme Court recently held that State appellate courts are not constitutionally required to provide "proportionality review" of death sentences in which the Court would have to compare the sentence in the case before it with penalties in similar cases. 34 Cr. L. 3029:

"The proportionalty review sought by Harris, required by the Court of Appeals, and provided for in numerous state statutes is of a different sort. This sort of proportionality review presumes that the death sentence is not disproportionate to the crime in the traditional sense. It purports to inquire instead whether the penalty is nonetheless unacceptable in a particular case because disproportionate to the punishment imposed on others convicted of the same crime. The issue in this case, therefore, is whether the Eighth Amendment applicable to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, requires a state appellate court, before it affirms a death sentence, to comare the sentence in the case before it with the penalties imposed in similar cases if requested to do so by the prisoner. Harris insists that it does and that this is the invariable rule in every case. Apparently, the Court of Appeals was of the same view. We do not agree."

(emphasis added)

The Court then went on to note that the defendant had no basis on which to rely on its decison in <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, supra:

"There is even less basis for reliance on Proffitt v. Florida, supra. The Florida statute provides for a bifurcated procedure and forecloses the death penalty unless the sentencing authority finds that at least one of eight statutory aggravating circumstances is present and is not outweighed by any mitigating circumstances. The joint opinion of Justices Stewart, Powell, and Stevens observed that the Florida scheme, like its

Georgia counterpart, requires the sentencer to focus on the individual circumstances of each homicide and each defendant. Also, by vesting ultimate sentencing authority in the judge rather than the jury, the statute was expected to yield more consistent sentencing at the trial court level. Id. at 252. Only after concluding that trial judges are given specific and detailed guidance to assist them in deciding whether to impose the death penalty did the opinion observe that death sentences are reviewed to ensure that they are consistent with the sentences imposed in similar cases. Id. at 250-251. The concurring opinion filed by three other Justices approved the Florida statute without even mentioning appellate review. Id. at 260-261.

That <u>Gregg</u> and <u>Proffitt</u> did not establih a constitutional requirement of proportionality review is made clearer by <u>Jurek v. Texas</u>, 428 U.S. 262 (1976) decided the same day. In <u>Jurek</u>, we upheld a death sentence even though neither the statute, as in Georgia, nor state case-law, as in Florida, provided for comparative proportionality review.

A review of this Court's opinion on Appellant's direct appeal in no way, shape or form supports his allegations that he was denied "proportionality review." <u>Clark v. State</u>, 379 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1979). Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has unequivocally stated that such review is not constitutionally required to be provided to a defendant. Clearly, Appellant's argument is totally without merit.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE EFFECTIVENESS OF TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO MEET MINIMUM STANDARDS AND DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT.

In <u>Knight v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), this Court adopted the following principles as a standard to determine whether an attorney had provided reasonably effective assistance of counsel:

First, the specific commission or overt act upon which the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is based must be detailed in the appropriate pleading.

Second, the defendant has the burden to show that the specific omission or overt act was a substantial and serious deficiency, measurably below that of a competent counsel. As was explained by Judge Leventhal in Decoster III, "To be 'below average' is not enough, for that is self evidently the case half the time. The standard of shortfall is necessarily subjective, but it cannot be established merely by showing that counsel's acts or commissions deviated from a checklist of standards." §24 F.2d at 215. We recognize that in applying the standard, death penalty cases are different and consequently the performance of counsel must be judged in light of these circumstances.

Third, the defendant has the burden to show that the specific, serious deficiency, when considered under the circumstancs of the individual case, was substantial enough to demonstrate a prejudice to the defendant to the extent that there is a likelihood that the deficient conduct affected the outcome of the court proceedings. In the case of appellate counsel, this means the deficiency must concern an issue which is error affecting the outcome, not simply harmless error. This requirement that a defendant has the burden to show prejudice is the rule in the majority of other jurisdictions.

Fourth, in the event a defendant does show a substantial deficiency and presents a prima facie showing of prejudice, the state still has an opportunity to rebut these assertions by showing beyond a reasonable doubt that there was no prejudice in fact. This opportunity to rebut applies even if a constitutional violation has been established. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967); Decoster III.

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